
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
 

 

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

6:00 PM Thursday, January 12, 2017 

Village Administration Building 

99 High Street 

South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

 

 Agenda Item 

  

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Open Forum 

5. Review and Approval of Minutes 

 A. Minutes of November 30, 2016 
  

6. Public Hearing – None 

7. Old Business   

A. None 

8. New Business 

A. Case 17-01P: Application for Final Plat Approval for Riverside Subdivision Phase 
One  

B. Case 17-02P. Site Plan review for Patel Convenience Store, 720 E. State Route 22-3 

9. Communications 

10. Adjournment 

 

Members of the public may address the Planning Commission during the Open Forum segment of 
the agenda and shall be limited to five minutes each.  After the speaker concludes remarks, the 
Planning Commission may comment or ask questions at that time.  The Chairperson may at his or 
her discretion restrict duplicate testimony on a particular subject. 

 



1 

 

 
Village of South Lebanon 

99 N. High Street, South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

513-494-2296       fax: 513-494-1656 

www.southlebanonohio.org 

 

Planning Commission Meeting 

MEETING MINUTES 

November 30, 2016 

 

 

Members Present: Staff: 

Tom Hunsche Jerry Haddix, Administrator 

Dennis Rees Elbert Allen, Clerk 

Bill Madison  

Jim Smith 

   

Members Absent: 

Darrick Zucco 

 

1.  Call to order at 6:00 PM 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

3.  Roll Call 

   

4.  Open Forum   

 

5. Review and Approval of Minutes of September 12, 2016. After the minutes were reviewed a motion to 

approve the minutes was made by Tom Hunsche and was seconded by Bill Madison.  A vote was taken. All 

yeas.   

    

6. Public Hearing: None 

 

7. Old Business: 

 

  A. Case 15-04P: Fellowship Baptist Church – Site Plan Extension Request. Staff reported that they had 

received the request on November 11, 2016 in a letter from Charles C. Stanbery for a (1) year extension of 

the site plan. Mr. Stanbery is the director of the Fellowship Tract League. In his letter he stated that they 

intend on starting construction in the spring of 2017 with completion in 5 to 6 months. The original zoning 

permit was approved on November 24, 2015. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a 

motion to approve the Fellowship Baptist Church – Site Plan Extension Request for one year through 

November 23, 2017. A motion to approve the Site Plan Extension Request was made by Dennis Rees and 

was seconded by Bill Madison. A vote was taken. Results were all yeas. 

http://www.southlebanonohio.org/


2 

 

Planning Commission Minutes 

November 30, 2016 

Page 2 

 

 

8.  New Business: 

  

 A. Case 16-10P: Application for Final Plat Approval for Wynstead Section 3. Submitted by Bayer Becker 

Engineers on behalf of Grand Communities, Ltd. A guest (Greg Koch) from Bayer Becker was present to 

answer questions. He stated that there would be a total of 29 single family homes built on the 9.9441 acres. 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a motion to approve the Final Record Plat and 

authorize Chairman Zucco to sign the Mylar with conditions. A motion to approve the Application for Final 

Plat for Wynstead Section 3 was made by Bill Madison and was seconded by Dennis Rees. A vote was taken. 

Results were 4 Yeas and Hunsche voted Nay. 

 

 B. Case 16-11P: Acceptance & Dedication of Public Improvements for Wynstead Section 2C. Choice One 

Engineering, the Village Engineer, provided a final inspection of the public improvements by Fischer Homes 

(“Developer”). Choice One issued a letter stating that Towne Construction had completed all punch list items 

pursuant to Sec 15.20.7 (6) (a-d). Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a motion to approve 

the Public Improvements for Wynstead Section 2C. A motion to approve the Acceptance & Dedication of 

Public Improvements for Wynstead Section 2C was made by Dennis Rees and was seconded by Bill 

Madison. A vote was taken. Results were 4 Yeas and Hunsche voted Nay. 

 

9. Communications: None 

  

10. Motion to adjourn. Bill Madison made the motion; Dennis Rees seconded. A vote was taken. Results were all 

yeas.  

 

 

 

_____________________________                 ______________________________       
      Darrick Zucco – Chairman                  Elbert Allen - Clerk   

  



VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Jerry Haddix, Village Administrator 
 
RE: Case 17-01P, Final Plat Approval, Riverside Subdivision Phase One 
 
DATE: January 9, 2017 

 
 
On the agenda for the January 12th meeting is Case #17-01P, an application for approval of the Final 
Record Plat for the Riverside Subdivision Phase One (the “Property”) submitted by Bayer Becker 
Engineers on behalf of Lebanon Mason, LLC (the “Owner”). 
 
Background 
On February 11, 2016, the Village Planning Commission passed a motion that granted approval of 
the Preliminary Plat for the 127-lot, 54.120 acre Rivers Crossing South development (now known as 
“Riverside”). The Owner has submitted a final plat for Phase One of this development. This plat 
includes 15.421 acres will create 42 single family lots along with 2.95 acres of open space. The present 
zoning designation is R-3. 
 
The Final Record Plat has been sent to a number of officials and agencies for review. Attached are 
comments from Choice One Engineering. Duke Energy has also submitted comments and the 
Owner’s has submitted a revised plat which addresses those comments. 
 
Code Analysis 
Pursuant to Section 15.20.4 of the Village Zoning Code, a subdivision developer, after receiving 
approval of the preliminary plat of the proposed subdivision, shall submit a final plat for the 
subdivision and drawings and specifications of the improvements required therein.  The final plat shall 
be filed with the Planning Commission not later than twelve months after the date of approval of the 
preliminary plat. 
 
Zoning Process 
The Planning Commission shall approve or disapprove the final plat within thirty days after it has 
been filed.  If the plat is disapproved, the grounds for disapproval shall be stated in the records of the 
Commission, and a copy of said record shall be forwarded to the developer.  The Commission shall 
not disapprove the final plat if the developer has done everything that he was required to do and has 
proceeded in accordance with the conditions and standards specified in the approved preliminary plat. 
If disapproved, the developer shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the final plat within 
thirty days to the Commission for its final approval.   
 
When the final plat has been approved by the Commission, the original tracing (Mylar) shall be signed 
by the chairperson of the Commission, approved by the Village Council, and returned to the Owner 
for filing with the Court Recorder after all necessary certifications are received. 
 



 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a motion to approve the Final Record Plat 
and authorize Chairman Zucco to sign the Mylar with the following conditions: 
 

1. Comply with all comments from the Village Engineer, Warren Co. Tax Map Dept. or any 
other reviewing agency 

2. Provide the statements pursuant to Section 15.20.10 of Village Subdivision Regulations.  
 
Attachments 
Final Record Plat 
Planning Commission Application 
 



 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Final Plat Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Riverside – Phase 1  Date Received 12/21/16 
Reviewed By: S. Bowersox –Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 12/23/16 

 
All items below are required for final    
plat approval from the Village Engineer  Approved                Comments           

A. Required Information                               Sec 15.20.4   
1. Final Plat Form               Sec 15.20.4.16   

a. Scale   
b. Paper Size   

   
2. Final Plat Contents          Sec 15.20.4.7   

a. Proposed Name of Subdivision and location  Needs corrected on overall boundary map. 
Currently the old “Riverside Bluffs” name is 
still incorrectly shown. 

b. Contact information   
c. Plat boundaries and closure  Need closure documentation 
d. Bearings/distances to street lines   
e. Streets and setback lines and R/W   
f. Curve Data   
g. Easements and R/W  Plat with additional easements to be 

recorded separately 
h. Lot numbers and lines  Need to show lot width on setback line for 

lots located on curves 
i. Common areas   
j. Covenants and restrictions  To be recorded separately and referenced 
k. Certification by P.S.    
l. Notarized certification by owners   
m. Typical sections, profile of streets   
n. Monuments and pins   
o. Abutting property owner’s information   
p. Notation of evidence of occupation   
q. Pertinent documents citation   
r. Superimposition of the original tracts   
s. Statements and signature blocks   

   
3. Supplementary Information      Sec 15.20.4.18   

a. Zoning Change approval from Zoning Official   
b. Certification of proper installation and 

bond. 
  

General Comments Please resubmit for final approval prior to 
recording 

 











Issue D
ate:

C
hecked By:

D
raw

n by:

D
raw

ing:

Sheet:

Item Revision Description Date Drwn: Chk:

www.bayerbecker.com

Mason, OH  45040 - 513.336.6600
6900 Tylersville Road, Suite A

http://www.bayerbecker.com


S.F.F.=711.5
S.F.F.=713.0

S.F.F.=713.0

S.F.F.=712.5
S.F.F.=712.5

S.F.F.=715.0
S.F.F.=716.0

S.F.F.=718.0
S.F.F.=720.0

S.F.F.=721.0
S.F.F.=721.5

S.F.F.=722.0
S.F.F.=721.5

S.F.F.=721.0
S.F.F.=720.0

S.F.F.=718.0

M
.O

.E
.=708.55

M
.O

.E
.=708.55

M
.O

.E
.=708.55

M
.O

.E
.=708.55

M
.O

.E
.=708.55

M
.O

.E
.=710.20

M
.O

.E
.=710.20

M
.O

.E
.=710.20

M
.O

.E
.=710.20

S.F.F.=717.5

S.F.F.=718.5

S.F.F.=719.5

S.F.F.=720.0
S.F.F.=720.5

M
.O

.E
.=715.00

M
.O

.E
.=715.00

M
.O

.E
.=715.00

M
.O

.E
.=715.00

M
.O

.E
.=714.00

M
.O

.E
.=713.30

M
.O

.E
.=712.30

M
.O

.E
.=711.30

M
.O

.E
.=708.50

M
.O

.E
.=707.90

M
.O

.E
.=707.30

M
.O

.E
.=703.90

E.F.R.

E.F.R
.

E.F.R.

S.F.F.=Suggested Finish Floor Elevation
M

.O
.E.=M

inim
um

 O
pening Elevation

E.F.R
.=Em

ergency Flood R
oute

Issue D
ate:

C
hecked By:

D
raw

n by:

D
raw

ing:

Sheet:

Item Revision Description Date Drwn: Chk:

www.bayerbecker.com

Mason, OH  45040 - 513.336.6600
6900 Tylersville Road, Suite A

http://www.bayerbecker.com


VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Jerry Haddix, Village Administrator 
 
RE: Case 17-02P, Site Plan Review for Patel Convenience Store 
 
DATE: January 9, 2017 

 
 
On the agenda for the January 12th meeting is an application for approval of the site plan and landscape 
design for the Patel Convenience Store to be located at 720 East State Route 22-3 roughly 610’ east 
of the intersection of Cochran Road and Route 22-3 (the “Project”) submitted by Maestro 
Development, the developer/builder for the Project (the “Applicant”). 
 
Background 
The Project that is the subject of the application is located east of the intersection of Cochran Road 
and Route 22-3. The property is currently owned by Timothy and Mary Kay Books. The present 
zoning classification is B-2 General Business District. The Project consists of a 5,564 s.f convenience 
store with eight (8) fueling pumps. Also planned are two (2) adjoining 1,040 s.f commercial spaces. 
Water service is currently provided by the Warren County Water & Sewer Department. The Village 
and Warren County have been working to provide sanitary sewer to this site. A resolution to the 
sanitary sewer issue should come in the next week or two. 
 
The Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) will need to approve all access points onto Route 
22-3 from this development. Also, if the sanitary sewer is provided by Warren County, ODOT will 
need to approve all boring under the road. 
 
The Hamilton Township Fire Department has submitted comments and those comments have been 
forwarded to the Applicant. Their response is attached. 
 
Zoning Code Analysis 
Upon review of the plans, it has been determined that the drawings generally satisfy the Zoning 
Regulations and Design Guidelines and Standards with the exceptions listed in the attached letter and 
accompanying site plan approval checklist. 
 
Zoning Process 
Pursuant to Article 18 of the Village Zoning Regulations, the development of any new use or 
construction of any new structures shall require site plan approval prior to construction and/or 
occupancy.  At the first regular meeting at which a site plan proposal is considered, the Commission 
shall first determine whether to accept the plan for processing. If accepted for processing, the 
Commission shall review the site plan in relation to applicable standards and regulations, and in 
relation to the intent and purpose of the Village Zoning Regulations and Design Guidelines and 
Standards. The Commission shall consider the comments and recommendations from the Village 
Administrator, the Village Engineer, public safety officials and other reviewing agencies. 



 
If the Commission determines that revisions are necessary to bring the site plan into compliance with 
applicable standards and regulations, the applicant shall be given the opportunity to submit a revised 
site plan.  The Commission shall review the revised site plan and application materials within 30 days 
after the Village received a complete revised site plan application. 
 
The Commission shall make a determination on a site plan based on the requirements and standards 
in the Zoning Regulations and Design Guidelines and Standards.  The Commission is authorized to 
grant approval, grant approval subject to conditions, or reject a site plan.  If the Commission chooses 
to grant approval subject to conditions, the Commission may waive its right to review the revised plan, 
and instead authorize the Zoning Administrator, or his designee, to review and recommend approval 
of the resubmitted plans if all required conditions have been addressed. 
 
If construction is not started within 18 months of final approval of the site plan, the site plan approval 
becomes null and void and a new application for site plan review shall be required.  
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission grant its approval of the site plan and landscape 
plan for the Patel Convenience Store with the following conditions: 
 

Prior to issuance of a zoning permit, the applicant must resubmit the site plan and provide the 
following information to the Zoning Administrator: 

1. Addressing the comments in the attached Site Plan Approval Checklist to the satisfaction 
of Choice One Engineering; 

2. Approval of the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) for access to and from 
Route 22-3 and boring approval (if applicable); 

3. Meet the requirements of the Warren County Water & Sewer Department; 
4. Meet the requirements of the Hamilton Township Fire Department; 
5. Provision of sanitary sewer to this site by either Warren County or the Village of South 

Lebanon; 
6. Signage will be reviewed separately by the Zoning Administrator at a later date 

 
Attachments 
Planning Commission Application 
Site Plan and Landscape Plan 
Village Engineer Checklist 
  











 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Site Plan Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Patel  Date Received  12/08/16 
Reviewed By: Brian Schmidt–Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 12/12/16 

 
All items below are required for site plan    
     approval from the Village Engineer  Approved                Comments           

1. Required Information                             Sec 15.18.20   
a. Appropriate Scale   
b. Sec 15.18.20.2 (a-n)  Note(g) – provide legal and common description 

of property 
Note(i) – provide a seal 
Note(j) – provide a written description of 
proposed land 
Note(k) – provide zoning classification of abutting 
properties  
Note(l) –provide proximity to section corner and  
major thoroughfares 
Note(n) – provide the net acreage minus the right-
of-way 

c. Sec 15.18.20.3 (a-x)  Note (b) – show front yard setback dimension 
Note (k) – Both P1 light pole locations allow light 
to portray over the property line. Revise and 
photometric sheet with method of shielding lights 
from shining off the site 
Note (u) – show an easement on the property for 
the sanitary sewer main extension. 

d. Sec 15.18.20.4 (a-g)   
e. Sec 15.18.20.5 (a-f)  Note (a) – Indicate the closest Fire Hydrant to 

service the property. Show proposed gas and 
electric service to the facility. 
Note (e) – Provide additional pavement elevations 
for the driveway tie-in to the roadway 

f. Sec 15.18.20.6 (a-l)   Not applicable 
g. Sec 15.18.20.7 (a-b)  Please provide the estimated number of 

employees 
h. Sec 15.18.20.8   
i. Sec 15.18.20.9   

2. Drainage Plan                                     Sec 15.18.21.12   
Floodway/Floodplain Impacts   
Detention and Retention Basin Calculations  Please submit for review 
Overflow Routing on and off-site  Please indicate on the drawings and submit for 

review 
Storm Sewer   
3. Utility Connection Plan                     Sec 15.18.21.15   

a. Main Extension Plan   
b. Lateral Service Plan  Sanitary sewer connection not approved yet. 

4. Access Control Plan            Sec 15.18.21.8-11,20-21   



 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Site Plan Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Patel  Date Received  12/08/16 
Reviewed By: Brian Schmidt–Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 12/12/16 

 
a. Driveway Widths and Locations   
b. Emergency Vehicle Access   
c. Pedestrian Access   
d. Coordination with Adjacent Sites   
e. Barrier-free Access   

5. Off-Street Parking                                         Sec 15.12   
a. Sec 15.12.2 (1-12)  The handicap parking stall doesn’t meet the 

required 162 square foot size.  
b. Sec 15.12.3 and 15.12.7   
c. Sec 15.12.4   
d. Sec 15.12.5  Not applicable  
e. Sec 15.12.6  Not applicable  
f. Sec 15.12.8   
g. Sec 15.12.9  Not applicable  
h. Sec 15.12.10  Please provide/show the two required off-street 

loading spaces (12’x65’) 
i. Sec 15.12.11 (1-4)  Please provide/show the two required off-street 

loading spaces (12’x65’) 
6. Erosion Control                                  Sec 15.18.21.13   

a. Erosion Control Plan   
7. Lighting Plan                                       Sec 15.18.21.14   

a. Compliance with Sec 15.18.21.14   Both P1 light pole locations allow light to portray 
over the property line (revise) and update 
photometric sheet to show the light levels beyond 
the property lines 

8. Appearance                                          Sec 15.18.21.3   
a. Compliance with Sec 15.18.21.3   

9. Landscape Plan                                             Sec 15.17   
a. Sec 15.17.4 (a-b)  Front yard of all non-residential uses shall be 

planted with sod or hydro-seeded. Per the 
amount of unpaved areas there should be 14 
evergreen trees.  

b. Sec 15.17.5.1 (a-d)  Indicate that the landscape buffer widths. Please 
indicate that a continuous 30” high screen is 
provided.  

c. Sec  15.17.6 (1-3)  Mulch in buffer areas shall be 4” thick 
d. Sec 15.17.7   
e. Sec 15.17.8   

f. Sec 15.17.9.1  Not applicable 
g. Sec 15.17.9.2 (a-c)  Provide the calculation that indicates the required 



 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Site Plan Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Patel  Date Received  12/08/16 
Reviewed By: Brian Schmidt–Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 12/12/16 

 
landscaping square footage 

h. Sec 15.17.10 (1-4)  Provide the calculation that indicates the required 
landscaping square footage 

i. Sec 15.17.11 (1-2)   
10. Screening                                          Sec 15.18.21.16   

a. Privacy   
b. Off-Street Parking   
c. Loading Areas  Please provide/show the two required off-street 

loading spaces (12’x65’) and the corresponding 
landscaping 

d. Dumpster Enclosure   
11. All Other Items   
General Comments 
 
 
 
 

Note:The sanitary sewer connection is not approved as 
a decision is pending on whether Warren County or the 
Village of South Lebanon will service this site with 
sewer. 
 
Sheet C100 
• Please provide the turn lane length calculations. 
• Add the appropriate left turn sign indicating the new 

turn lane on SR 22/3.  
 

Sheet C101 
• Note #8 – the project is not within the City of 

Norwood 
• Note #14 – please update the note to reflect ODOT’s 

current spec 611 not 603. 
• Please indicate the pavement composition around 

the gas pumps. 
• CB #106 T/G 842.42  
• The pavement slope in the handicap parking area is 

at 2.05%, it must be 2.0% or less. 
• Should the top 3/8” holes in Detail 101 should be 

839.50? 
 

Sheet C102 
• SWPPP Note #2 – The total site area is 1.865 acres. 

 
Sheet C103 
• Call out what to do with the existing water service 

for the property. 
 

 







EXISTING 
FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING 
FIRE HYDRANT

320' +/-
340' +/-


















